
- 1 - 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No.:  _________________________ 
 
PAULINA BLACK, and 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Non-profit Corporation, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
APPLE SIX HOSPITALITY, INC, a Virginia Corporation, 
d/b/a HAMPTON INN DENVER WEST FEDERAL CENTER, 
 
 Defendant. 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 
 Plaintiffs, Paulina Black and Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), by and 

through their undersigned attorney, Kevin W. Williams of the CCDC Legal Program, hereby 

bring this Complaint against Apple Six Hospitality Inc. (“Apple”), a Virginia Corporation, d/b/a 

Hampton Inn Denver West Federal Center for violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and the Colorado Civil Rights Act, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-

34-601, et seq.  (“CCRA”).   

Introduction  

1. July 26, 1990, nearly twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing the 

most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history 

2. Among the primary purposes of the ADA is ensuring that individuals with 

disabilities are not discriminated against on the basis of their disabilities. 
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3. Title III of the ADA applies to the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages and accommodations of places of public accommodation, and to any demand 

responsive transportation systems operated by such public accommodations.  42 U.S.C. § 12182. 

4. Similarly, the CCRA has prohibited discrimination on the basis of disability since 

before the enactment of the ADA, and also requires that individuals who use wheelchairs for 

mobility be provided with the “full and equal enjoyment” of the goods, services, facilities, 

privileges and accommodations of places of public accommodation.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-

601. 

5. Defendant Apple owns and, as franchisee, operates the Hampton Inn Denver West 

Federal Center (“Hotel”) located at 137 Union Boulevard, Lakewood, Colorado. 

6. Defendant’s Hotel is a public accommodation, as that term is defined in the ADA 

and the CCRA.   

7. Defendant’s Hotel operates a complimentary shuttle service, but the shuttle is not 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use 

wheelchairs and motorized scooters for mobility. 

8. In addition, Defendant does not provide equivalent service to individuals with 

disabilities who are unable to use the shuttle because the shuttle is inaccessible. 

9. Plaintiff Paulina Black is an individual with a disability who requires the use of a 

wheelchair.  Defendant denied her access to its shuttle service. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

Case 1:10-cv-02033-WYD   Document 1    Filed 08/23/10   USDC Colorado   Page 2 of 13



- 3 - 
 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the 

laws of the State of Colorado. 

11. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

Parties 

12. Plaintiff Paulina Black is and was at all times material hereto a resident of 

Colorado.  Ms. Black is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking.  Ms. Black 

utilizes a motorized scooter for mobility.  Ms. Black is also a CCDC member. 

13. Plaintiff CCDC is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons 

with disabilities and their non-disabled allies. 

14. Defendant Apple is a Virginia Corporation, doing business in the State of 

Colorado.  Defendant Apple owns and, as franchisee, operates the Hotel.  Defendant Apple has 

its principal place of business at 814 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219 and is licensed 

to do business in Colorado. 

Facts 

15. From April 23, 2010 to April 25, 2010, the Hotel hosted a conference and training 

seminar for the National Alliance on Mental Illness.  Ms. Black attended this conference and 

seminar, and stayed in a room at the Hotel for the duration of the Conference. 

16. Following adjournment on the first evening of the Conference, Ms. Black and a 

group of at least sixteen other attendees met in the Hotel lobby in order to ride the Hotel’s shuttle 

to a local restaurant. 
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17. On information and belief, the Hotel’s shuttle is owned or leased by Defendant, 

and has a seating capacity in excess of sixteen passengers, including the driver. 

18. At approximately 5:30 p.m., the Hotel shuttle arrived at the Hotel entrance, and 

the group of attendees, Ms. Black included, approached it in order to board. 

19. As she approached, it became apparent to Ms. Black that the shuttle did not have 

any type of ramp or lift.  Ms. Black asked the shuttle driver if the shuttle was accessible and he 

stated that it was not. 

20. Upon learning that the shuttle was not accessible, Ms. Black returned to the Hotel 

front desk in order to arrange some sort of equivalent service.  Ms. Black spoke with the 

employee at the front desk, who called Barbara Jackson, the Hotel’s General Sales Manager. 

21. Ms. Black and Ms. Jackson spoke over the telephone.  Ms. Jackson said that she 

would see what she could do, and asked Ms. Black to remain at the front desk in order to accept 

her return call. 

22. After speaking with Ms. Jackson, and being assured that she should remain at the 

front desk for Ms. Jackson’s return call, Ms. Black remained in the Hotel lobby, near the front 

desk for thirty minutes without a response from Ms. Jackson. 

23. After thirty minutes without a response from Ms. Jackson, Ms. Black returned to 

the front desk and again spoke with the front desk employee.  The employee said that no call had 

come through yet and agreed to call back for Ms. Black. 

24. Approximately fifteen minutes later, the employee approached Ms. Black and 

informed her that he had spoken with Eric Hautzenrader, the Hotel’s General Manager.  Mr. 

Hautzenrader said that there was no way to accommodate Ms. Black. 
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25. When Ms. Black asked the employee for Mr. Hautzenrader’s telephone number, 

the employee stated that he was neither allowed to call Mr. Hautzenrader back nor give Ms. 

Black Mr. Hautzenrader’s telephone number.   

26. Ms. Black then returned to her room in the Hotel and was unable to join the other 

attendees, who had boarded and ridden the Hotel’s shuttle to a local restaurant. 

27. The next day, April 24, 2010, following adjournment of the conference, the group 

of attendees, including Ms. Black, met in the Hotel lobby in order to travel to another local 

restaurant.    

28. Again, the Hotel shuttle was not accessible, so Ms. Black was unable to board or 

ride the shuttle. 

29. In order to join her fellow attendees, Ms. Black was forced to ride her motorized 

scooter to the restaurant, which was several blocks from the Hotel.  Other attendees, who are not 

individuals with disabilities, rode the Hotel shuttle to the restaurant. 

30. Ms. Black intends to attend another conference and stay at the Hotel in the near 

future and will use the complimentary shuttle if it is made accessible. 

31. Ms. Black will return to the Hotel to test whether the shuttle is accessible. 

32. CCDC is a membership organization having members who use wheelchairs 

throughout the state of Colorado. 

33. As a result of Defendants’ failure to provide shuttle service that is readily 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, CCDC has investigated complaints by 

such individuals about accessibility of Defendant’s shuttle service. 
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34. CCDC has members who use wheelchairs and motorized scooters and who have 

experienced and/or are likely to experience Defendant’s inaccessible shuttle service. 

35. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence, 

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of 

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not 

encounter discrimination in -- the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations provided by places of public accommodation. 

36. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts 

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by the Defendants’ violations of the 

laws cited herein. 

37. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable, and 

perceptible injury to CCDC.   

38. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other 

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to communicating with Defendants in an attempt to 

secure non-discriminatory policies and store access. 

39. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other 

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to counseling members and others who have been 

injured by Defendants’ discrimination.   

40. As set forth in this Complaint, Defendants’ discrimination has been and continues 

to be a barrier to the full participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates 

CCDC’s ability to achieve full inclusion for persons with disabilities.  
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41. Defendants’ discrimination has required and continues to require CCDC to make 

a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such 

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination.   

This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions. 

42. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not 

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of 

discrimination in the community, including that of Defendants. 

43. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are 

traceable to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed 

by the relief requested in it. 

44. CCDC’s members and their spouses, friends, relatives, and associates have been 

injured and will continue to be injured by Defendants’ discrimination.  

45. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, and the integration 

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s 

organizational purpose. 

46. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required 

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the ADA) 

 
47. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

48. Title III of the ADA provides that: 
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No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full 
and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 
accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, 
leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation. 

 
42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 
 

49. Further, the definition of “public accommodation” expressly includes “an inn, 

hotel, motel, or other place of lodging . . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(A). 

50. Defendant owns and, as franchisee, operates the Hotel, which is a place of public 

accommodation as defined in the ADA.  

51. Defendant’s provision of complementary shuttle service to Hotel guests is a good, 

service, facility, privilege, advantage or accommodation of the Hotel. 

52. Defendant’s shuttle service is also a demand responsive transportation system, 

which is “any system of providing transportation of individuals by a vehicle, other than a system 

which is a fixed route system.”  42 U.S.C. § 12181(3).  See also 49 C.F.R. § 37.3 (“Demand 

responsive system means any system of transporting individuals, including . . . the provision of 

transportation service by private entities . . . .”). 

53. Under Title III of the ADA, “discrimination includes . . . a failure of a private 

entity which operates a demand responsive system . . . to operate such system so that, when 

viewed in its entirety, such system ensures a level of service to individuals with disabilities, 

including individuals who use wheelchairs, equivalent to the level of service provided to 

individuals without disabilities[.]”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(C)(i). 

54. “[D]iscrimination [also] includes . . . the purchase or lease by such entity for use 

on such system of a vehicle with a seating capacity in excess of 16 passengers (including the 

driver) . . . that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities (including 
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individuals who use wheelchairs) . . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(C)(ii) (parenthetical references 

in original).   

55. Public accommodations that provide demand responsive transportation systems 

“shall comply with the requirements pertaining to vehicles and transportation systems in the 

regulations issued by the Secretary of Transportation[,]” which are found in Title 49, Parts 37 

and 38, Code of Federal Regulations. 

56. Under Part 37, an entity that purchases or leases a vehicle for use in its demand 

responsive transportation system “with a seating capacity of over 16 passengers (including the 

driver) for use on the system, it shall ensure that the vehicle is readily accessible to and usable by 

individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs . . . .”  49 C.F.R. § 

37.101(d).  If the entity purchases or leases a vehicle for use in its demand responsive 

transportation system with a seating capacity of 16 or fewer, “[t]hese entities are required to 

ensure that their systems, when viewed in their entirety, meet the equivalent service requirements 

of [Part 37], regardless of whether or not these entities purchase a new vehicle.”  49 C.F.R. § 

37.101(e). 

57. On information and belief, Defendant’s shuttle was purchased or leased after 

August 25, 1990. 

58. On information and belief, Defendant’s shuttle has a seating capacity of over 

sixteen passengers, including the driver. 

59. Defendant’s shuttle is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 

disabilities, and Defendant refuses to provide equivalent service to individuals with disabilities. 
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60. Defendant has discriminated against Ms. Black on the basis of her disability by 

refusing to provide a shuttle that is readily accessible to and usable by her, and by refusing to 

provide equivalent service to her. 

61. Ms. Black and other CCDC members who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters 

for mobility often attend conferences held in hotels in the Denver metropolitan area, including 

Defendant’s hotel, often travel to the Denver metropolitan area from other locations in the State 

in order to visit friends and relatives and stay in hotels in the Denver metropolitan area, including 

Defendant’s hotel, and often test accessibility at places of public accommodation throughout the 

State.  Such individuals, including Ms. Black, intend to utilize Defendant’s shuttle service during 

their stays at Defendant’s hotel and intend to test the accessibility of Defendant’s shuttle service 

if Defendant remedies the accessibility barriers identified herein. 

62. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Defendant will continue to 

discriminate against individuals with disabilities, including Ms. Black and other CCDC members 

who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility. 

63. Ms. Black and CCDC have been, and will continue to be, injured by Defendant’s 

discrimination. 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the CCRA) 

 
64. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

65. The CCRA is to be construed consistently with the ADA and other federal civil 

rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code Reg. § 708.60.1(C). 
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66. The CCRA defines place of public accommodation as, inter alia, “any place 

offering services, facilities, privileges, advantages or accommodations to the public, including 

but not limited to any business offering . . . any place to eat, drink, sleep, or rest, or any 

combination thereof . . . .” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1) (emphasis added). 

67. Defendant’s Hotel is a place of public accommodation as that term is defined in 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1). 

68. Under the CCRA, “[i]t is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, 

directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny an individual or a group, because of 

disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services facilities, privileges, 

advantages, or accommodations of  a place of public accommodation . . . .”  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

24-34-601(2). 

69. Defendant’s shuttle service is a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage or 

accommodation of Defendant’s Hotel. 

70. The CCRA is to be construed consistently with the ADA and other federal civil 

rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code. Reg. 708.60.1(c). 

71. By failing to purchase or lease, and use a shuttle that is readily accessible to and 

usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs and motorized 

scooters for mobility, and by refusing to provide equivalent service to such individuals, 

Defendant has engaged in an unlawful and discriminatory practice, and has specifically 

discriminated against Ms. Black on the basis of her disability.   

72. Ms. Black has been harmed and will continue to be harmed by Defendant’s 

discrimination. 
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73. CCDC has been and will continue to be damaged by Defendant’s discrimination. 

74. Under the CCRA, “[a]ny person who violates section 24-34-601 shall be fined not 

less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars for each violation.”  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

24-34-602 (emphasis added). 

75. Defendant has violated Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601. 

Prayer for Relief 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction over the Federal law claim and assume pendant 

jurisdiction over the State law claim; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendant to be in violation of the ADA and the 

CCRA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendant to comply with the ADA, and its 

implementing regulations, and with the CCRA, and its implementing regulations. 

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages under the CCRA; 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper and 

equitable. 

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury. 
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Dated: August 23, 2010    Respectfully submitted, 

s/  Kevin W. Williams                
Kevin W. Williams 
Legal Program Director 
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
Telephone: (303) 839-1775 
Facsimile:  (303) 839-1782 
E-mail:  kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 

 
Address of Plaintiff Paulina Black: 
4142 Fundy Street 
Denver, Colorado 80249 
 
Address for Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
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